
 
VILLAGE of LAWTON 

VILLAGE COUNCIL MEETING 

125 S. MAIN STREET, LAWTON, MI 49065 

TUESDAY, May 10th, 2022 – 7:00 P.M. 
please silence your cell phones 

 
AGENDA 

 

I. CALL TO ORDER 
 

II. ROLL CALL 
 

III. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
 

IV. CONSENT AGENDA 
 

A. Approval of the May 10, 2022 Council Agenda 
 

B. Approval of the April 26, 2022 Council Meeting Minutes 
 

C. Approval of April 2022 Disbursements in the amount of $134,970.08 
 

V. COMMUNICATIONS / CORRESPONDENCE / PRESENTATIONS 
 

VI. CITIZENS’ COMMENTS – (Please keep comments to 3 minutes) 
 

VII. PUBLIC HEARINGS / APPOINTMENTS / PROCLAMATIONS 
 
A. Appointment of Paul Rathbun to the Village of Lawton Planning Commission to fill an 

unexpired term through November 2023.....President Appleby Recommends Appointment  
 
VIII. OLD BUSINESS 

 
IX. NEW BUSINESS 

 
A. Consider Letter of Engagement from Siegfried Crandall Certified Public Accountants to 

perform the 2022 Financial Audit in an amount not to exceed 
$15,750…………………...............................................………Staff Recommends Approval  
 

B. Approve annual MML Liability and Property Pool Insurance Premium for Village in the 
amount of $41,307.00.................................................................Staff Recommends Approval 

 
  



 
 
 
 
C. Approve Workers Compensation Insurance renewal with the MML Workers 

Compensation Fund in the amount of $18,839.00....................Staff Recommends Approval 
 

X. BOARD, COMMITTEE, AND STAFF REPORTS 
 

A. Village Manager – Lisa Imus 
 

B. Department of Public Works – Todd Hackenberg 
 

C. Police Department – Jeff Mack 
 

D. Fire Department – Eric Dudek 
 

E. Lawton Library Board – Brittany Rathbun  
 
F. Planning Commission – Judy Peterson 

 

XI. COUNCIL COMMENTS 

A. Meeting location change to Village of Lawton Water Tower parking lot (M-40 N) to 
review parking layout and potential tower user equipment positioning……...…Discussion 

 
XII. ADJOURNMENT - NEXT REGULAR MEETING DATE – May 24, 2022 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The Village of Lawton follows the Americans w/ Disabilities Act of 1990. Individuals with disabilities planning to attend this 
meeting and require accommodations, or those who have questions regarding the accessibility of this meeting or the facilities, are 
requested to contact the Village Clerk, at (269) 624-6407 or bellj@lawtonmi.gov to allow the Village to make reasonable 
accommodations. If you have questions or comments, and you are unable to make the meeting, forward to the Village Manager at 
imusl@lawtonmi.gov. 

 
Posted May 6, 2022, for the VILLAGE OF LAWTON in VAN BUREN COUNTY, MICHIGAN www.lawtonmi.gov 

269.624.6407 

mailto:bellj@lawtonmi.gov
mailto:imusl@lawtonmi.gov
http://www.lawtonmi.gov/


VILLAGE OF LAWTON 
Regular Meeting Minutes – Tuesday April 26, 2022, at 7:00 p.m. 

Village Hall – 125 S. Main Street, Lawton MI 49065 
WWW.LAWTONMI.GOV  269.624.6407 

 
MINUTES 

 

I. CALL TO ORDER: President Appleby called the April 26, 2022, meeting of the Lawton Village Council to 
order at 7:00 p.m. 

II. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE - The Pledge of Allegiance was recited. 

III. ROLL CALL: Present: President Appleby. Trustees: E. Dudek, N. Smith, G. Dudek, J. Peterson, and R. Turner, 
R. Tanis. Others present: Village Manager Imus, Village Clerk Rathbun, Chief Mack, Superintendent 
Hackenberg and 3 guests. 

IV. CONSENT AGENDA: The Consent Agenda included the approval of the April 26, 2022 Council Agenda, the 
April 12, 2022 Council Meeting minutes.  E. Dudek made a motion to approve the Consent Agenda as 
presented, supported by Turner. A unanimous roll call vote approved the motion. 

V. COMMUNICATIONS, CORRESPONDENCE AND PRESENTATIONS: 

VI. CITIZENS’ COMMENTS: None.  

VII. PUBLIC HEARING: None 

VIII. EXISTING BUSINESS: 

A. Paul Harvey of Wightman Engineering provided a presentation on the Communitywide Capital 
Improvement Plan (CIP) 2022-2031.  Harvey broke down the stages and goals for the project outline, 
and held discussion and questions on the project.  

B. Derk Walkotten and Derek Sever of Abonmarche presented the final draft for the Village Hall 
Building Assessment.  Walkotten addressed questions and facilitated discussion on the project.  

IX. NEW BUSINESS: 

A. Appleby reported that the village is reviewing all options regarding the viability of the Lawton Police 
Department.   

B. Imus reported on several Water Tower Lease requests.  Dish Network has shown interest in leasing 
space on the tower and Verizon is looking to relocate an underground line. Discussion ensued about 
the semi-trucks utilizing the adjacent parking lot, and the option of making parking by permitted 
and for locals only.  To be discussed further at a future meeting.  

X. BOARD, COMMITTEE, AND STAFF REPORTS: None 

XI. COUNCIL COMMENTS: None 

XII. ADJOURNMENT: E. Dudek, supported by Turner, made a motion to adjourn the meeting at 8:50 p.m. A 
voice vote was taken with unanimous approval of those present. The next regular scheduled meeting is 
May 10, 2022. 

Respectfully Submitted by Brittany Rathbun, Lawton Village Clerk 

http://www.lawtonmi.gov/


05/06/2022                                     CHECK REGISTER FOR VILLAGE OF LAWTON                                                
                                              CHECK DATE FROM 04/01/2022 - 04/30/2022                                              

Check Date Check Vendor Name Description Amount
04/15/2022 5505 TEAMSTERS LOCAL #214 150.00
04/14/2022 5506 ABONMARCHE CONSULTANTS, INC 21-1783 - LAWTON VILLAGE HALL FEASIBILIT 1,360.75
04/14/2022 5507 ADAMS HARDWARE CONSOLIDATED BILL 394.08
04/14/2022 5508 BADGER METER, INC ORION CELL LTE SERV UNIT, BEACON MBL HOS 1,149.85
04/14/2022 5509 BEN W. JOHNSON MARCH 2022 CLEANING X5 475.00
04/14/2022 5510 BLOOMINGDALE COMMUNICATIONS TELEPHONE FOR ACCT NO 0032515-9 334.86
04/14/2022 5511 CLARK TECHNICAL SERVICES PC SUPPORT, SERVER INSTALLATION, MAIL SE 1,815.00
04/14/2022 5512 COLOSSUS, INC LICENSES 3,166.57
04/14/2022 5513 CONSUMERS ENERGY HEAT FOR 625 W UNION ST ACCT NO 1000 071 1,272.16
04/14/2022 5514 DICKINSON WRIGHT PLLC B.R.A. REVIEW 140.00
04/14/2022 5515 DUANE VANDENBOSS 410 WHITE OAK REMOBAL OF SIDING, WINDOWS 6,400.00
04/14/2022 5516 FISHER AUTO PARTS BALDWIN FILTERS 9.12
04/14/2022 5517 HAAS SYSTEMS, INC. QUARTLY ALARM MONITORING PER AGREEMENT W 96.00
04/14/2022 5518 HS FLEET SERVICES LLC MAINTENANCE ON 2020 FORD S#1FM5K8AB0LGA8 169.29
04/14/2022 5519 INDIANA MICHIGAN POWER CO. ELECTRIC - WATER TOWER 7,739.16
04/14/2022 5520 LAWSON OIL COMPANY NO LEAD REGULAR 2,517.18
04/14/2022 5521 OFFICE DEPOT MONEY RENT RECEIPT 295.12
04/14/2022 5522 PURITY CYLINDER GASES, INC. GAS, ACETYLENE 79.60
04/14/2022 5523 REPUBLIC  SERVICES OF WASTE REMOVAL 282.95
04/14/2022 5524 SAFEBUILT PERMITS FOR 503 E 2ND, 510 DURKEE, 101 N 935.75
04/14/2022 5525 STEENSMA LAWN & POWER EQUIP. BLADES, DAMPER MOTION CONTROL, ANTI SCAL 400.82
04/14/2022 5526 TAPPER FORD HEADLIGHTS, EXHAUST, FLEX PIPES 2020 FOR 142.82
04/14/2022 5527 WESTVIEW GOLF CARS & MORE DDA NEW GOLF CART 5,145.00
04/20/2022 5528 APPLIED IMAGING LIBRARY COPIER CONTRACT NO CN3599-01 - A 189.31
04/20/2022 5529 BAKER & TAYLOR, INC. BOOKS 2,223.28
04/20/2022 5530 BLOOMINGDALE COMMUNICATIONS PHONE LIBRARY 162.48
04/20/2022 5531 CENGAGE LEARNING. MARCH WESTERN 2 PLAN 78.87
04/20/2022 5532 CLARK TECHNICAL SERVICES MARCH SERVICES 330.00
04/20/2022 5533 COLLABORATIVE SUMMER LIBRARY PROGRA PROGRAM SUPPLIES 1,000.18
04/20/2022 5534 M & M CARPET MASTERS LIBRARY CARPET CLEANING 325.00
04/20/2022 5535 PETTY CASH LAWTON PUBLIC LIBRARY CHANS PLACE, DOLLAR GENERAL, DOLLAR TREE 132.90
04/20/2022 5536 SYNCB/AMAZON BOOKS 108.47
04/20/2022 5537 THREATTRACK SECURITY INC. VIPRE ENDPOINT SECURITY SUBSCRIPTION 36.80
04/20/2022 5538 UNIQUE BOOKS INC PLACEMATS 9.95
04/20/2022 5539 VAN BUREN DISTRICT LIBRARY MONEY TOWARDS AUTHOR KAREN DIONNE SWM RE 300.00
04/21/2022 5540 Old Dog , New Tricks Upcycled UB refund for account: 01-061 288.12
04/21/2022 5541 Schwartz, Cristina UB refund for account: 04-420 88.28
04/01/2022 DD5108PAYROLL x3 63,367.93
04/01/2022 EFT729(FEDERAL TAX 6,325.53
04/01/2022 EFT730(MI STATE DISBURSEMENT UNIT 680.86
04/01/2022 EFT731(GWFS EQUITIES, INC. 2,508.25
04/15/2022 EFT732(FEDERAL TAX 6,341.36
04/15/2022 EFT733(MI STATE DISBURSEMENT UNIT 680.86
04/15/2022 EFT734(GWFS EQUITIES, INC. 2,586.60
04/29/2022 EFT735(FEDERAL TAX 6,416.78
04/29/2022 EFT736(MI STATE DISBURSEMENT UNIT 475.86
04/29/2022 EFT737(GWFS EQUITIES, INC. 2,481.32
04/29/2022 EFT738(STATE OF MICHIGAN 3,360.01
Total of 111 Disbursements: 134,970.08













P.O. Box 367

Lawton, MI  490653067
06/15/2022Due Date:

Policy #:

Invoice #:  

5003250-22
6013206

Installment #:

Please remit top portion with payment

For any questions regarding payment information, please contact Insurance Accounting at (734) 669-6373.
For any questions regarding invoice or policy information, contact Underwriting at (248) 204-8530.

MICHIGAN MUNICIPAL LEAGUE WORKERS' COMPENSATION FUND

DESCRIPTION AMOUNTPOLICY#

1675 Green Road
Phone: (800) 653-2483

Ann Arbor, MI 48105-2530
Fax: (734) 741-1774

Invoice Date: 05/3/2022

Invoice No: 6013206 Due Date: 06/15/2022Invoice Date: 05/3/2022

P.O. Box 972081

Ypsilanti, MI  48197-0835

Remit to: MML Workers' Comp Fund

Amount Due: $8,359.00

125 S. Main St.

INVOICE

Lawton, Village Of

5003250-22 $8,359.00Policy Premium 7/1/2022  to  7/1/2023

TOTAL DUE $8,359.00



Declaration Page

Michigan Municipal League Workers' Compensation Fund

05/3/2022 5003250-22

Class Code
Estimated

Annual Payroll

Rate per
$100 of
Payroll

Estimated
Annual

PremiumClass Description

Coverage Period 7/1/2022 to 6/30/2023

RENEWAL

Village Of Lawton

Attn: Lisa Imus

125 S. Main St., PO Box 367

Lawton, MI  490653067

66,000 6.59 4,3495509-00 Street Operations

64,805 3.27 2,1197520-00 Water Operations

109,733 1.47 1,6137580-00 Sewer Operations

260,000 2.53 6,5787720-01 Police Officers

3,000 2.43 737720-02 Volunteer Police Officers

29,488 3.01 8888395-00 Garage Operations

125,000 0.38 4758810-01 Clerical-Office

13,750 0.20 288810-02 Elected Officials

79,000 0.27 2138810-03 Libraries & Museums: Prof/Clerical

12,000 4.07 4889015-00 Building Operations

31,350 2.82 8849102-00 Parks & Recreation

5,750 3.45 1989103-00 Crossing Guards

30,600 3.05 9339220-00 Cemetery Operations

$830,476 $18,839Totals:

$2,000,000

STATUTORY $15,260 

Employers Liability:

Workers' Compensation:

Coverage Amount

$8,359Annual Premium Due By June 15th:

Experience Modifier: .81

Modified Premium

Size of Premium Credit

Expense Constant

Total Estimated Premium

(Dividend Credit)

NET ESTIMATED ANNUAL PREMIUM

($3,579)

= $15,260 

$0 

$150 

= $15,410 

($7,051)

= $8,359 

Total Standard Premium $18,839 



Service Provider: Meadowbrook® Inc.

Loss Control & Member Services: P.O. Box 5174, Southfield, MI 48037 PH: 248.358.1100 • 800.482.2726
Southfield Claims Service: P.O. Box 5174, Southfield, MI 48086-5174 PH: 248.358.1100 • 800.482.2726 • FX: 248.358.3251
Grand Rapids Claims: 3196 Kraft Ave., S.E., Suite 206, Grand Rapids, MI 49512-2065 PH: 616.942.0311 • 800.752.7477 • FX: 616.649.1796

www.mml.org

May 03, 2022

Lisa Imus
Village Of Lawton
125 S. Main St., PO Box 367
Lawton, MI 49065-3067

Dear Ms. Imus:

Enclosed are the following documents for your Workers’ Compensation coverage renewal 
for the period July 1, 2022 to June 30, 2023.

§ Policy Declaration
§ Certificate of Membership
§ Invoice (payable by June 15th)

This year, the Fund has been authorized to distribute $14 million of surplus for the Fund 
years June 30, 2011-2019.  Your proportionate share of the distribution is shown below:

Dividend Credit  $7,051.00 Applied to this year’s renewal premium

Please review the enclosed documents and contact me at 248-204-8530 or 
MWolfgang@Meadowbrook.comif you have any questions.

Sincerely,

Max Wolfgang 

Max Wolfgang
Fund Underwriter

Enclosures
5003250-22



 

 
 
 
 
 

 

Workers’ Compensation Fund 
 
 

Certificate of Membership 
Proof of Insurance 

 
The Michigan Municipal League Workers’ Compensation Fund, approved by the 

Director of the Workers’ Compensation Agency as a group self-insurer,  
certifies that 

 
 
 
 

Policy Number:       
 

is a member in good standing of the Fund, for the year expiring 

 
 

and as such is approved by the Agency as a self-insured. 
 

Employer’s Liability coverage of 
 

is included. 
 
 
 
 

        Michael J Forster  
                                                                                                                 Effective Date 

 
 
 
Note: This certificate is proof that your entity has complied with the Workers’ Disability Compensation 
Act by becoming a Member of the Michigan Municipal League Workers’ Compensation Fund. Copies 
of this certificate may be provided to third parties as evidence that the required workers’ compensation 
coverage is in place. 

 

June 30, 2023

July 1, 2022

5003250-22

Village Of Lawton

$2,000,000



PLEASE MAKE CHECKS PAYABLE TO MICHIGAN MUNICIPAL LEAGUE LIABILITY AND PROPERTY POOL

INVOICE

FOR PROPER CREDIT PLEASE DETACH THIS STUB AND RETURN WITH YOUR PAYMENT FOR THE TOTAL AMOUNT DUE

TRANSACTION
EFFECTIVE DATE POLICY NUMBER DESCRIPTION AMOUNT

$  _____________Payment Enclosed:

04/14/2022

5522206Invoice #:  

Invoice Date:

Policy Term: 05/01/2022 - 05/01/2023

Customer #: 5003250

MICHIGAN MUNICIPAL LEAGUE
LIABILITY AND PROPERTY POOL
P.O. Box 972067, Ypsilanti, Michigan  48197-0835
(248) 358-1100, (800) 482-2726

Village of Lawton 

125 S. Main St., PO Box 367, 

Lawton, MI 490650367

MICHIGAN MUNICIPAL LEAGUE LIABILITY AND PROPERTY POOL
P.O. Box 972067, Ypsilanti, Michigan  48197-0835
(248) 358-1100, (800) 482-2726                                                      

$41,307Pool Renewal PremiumMML00109403705/01/2022

Total Amount Due $41,307

PREMIUM DUE ON EFFECTIVE DATE SHOWN ABOVE.
NO RECEIPT WILL BE SENT UNLESS REQUESTED.

There will be a 3% late charge on any invoices 30 days past due.5522206



Village of Lawton 

Premium Breakdown as of:

May 1, 2022

Liability

Limit of Liability $ 2,000,000

Public Officals Errors & Omissions $6,016.00

Police Professional $11,172.00

General Liability $5,155.00

Total Liability $22,343.00

Property

Village Hall, Police & Fire Station, Library $4,038.00

Flagpole $3.00

Lift Station $100.00

Park Pavilion $26.00

Pumphouse #8 $158.00

Pumphouse #4 $102.00

Restrooms $45.00

Playground Equip., Tennis Ct., Fencing, Picnic Tables, Etc. $167.00

Pumphouse #9 $176.00

(4) Grills $1.00

Pumphouse #10 $147.00

Backup Generator For Pumphouse #9 $51.00

Pavilion $13.00

Splash Pad $124.00

Dpw Garage $320.00

Cold Storage Bldg. $120.00

Exterior Fuel Tanks, Storage Bldg. $15.00

Salt Storage Bldg. $24.00

Various Park Equipment $11.00

Restrooms & Storage $49.00

Storage Barn $14.00

Cemetery Headstones, 1,000 Plots $24.00

Lift Station $89.00

Page 1 of 2



Village of Lawton 

Premium Breakdown as of:

May 1, 2022

Property

Sludge Storage Tank $237.00

Wastewater Treatment Plant, Main Facility $2,341.00

Generator, Fencing, Lighting $40.00

Water Tower $1,366.00

Backup Generator $13.00

Electronic Data Processing $20.00

Golf Carts $7.00

Radio Equipment $31.00

Contractors Equipment $413.00

Police Equipment, 2 Portable Speed Radar Signs $6.00

Total Property $10,291.00

Crime

Position Bond A $25.00

Employee Dishonesty Including Faithful Performance $25.00

Total Crime $50.00

Automobile

(14) Vehicles

$8,623.00

Total Automobile $8,623.00

$41,307.00TOTAL ANNUAL POOL PREMIUM

Page 2 of 2



PUBLIC SERVICES REPORT 
 April 2022 

 
CEMETERY 
1) We had 1 interment in the month of April 
2) cleaned up leaves left from last fall 
    Hours for the month – 56    Overtime – 2 
 
MOTORPOOL 
1) General maintenance was performed on equipment 
  
    Hours for the Month – 33 Overtime – 0 
 
BUILDINGS & GROUNDS 
1) No activity other than general maintenance 
    Hours for the month – 5 Overtime – 0 
 
CIVIC ACTIVITIES 
1)  
    Hours for the month - 11 
 
PARKS 
1) General maintenance and cleanup was performed.  
    Hours for the month – 49 Overtime –   
 
STREETS & SIDEWALKS 
1) no activity other than general maintenance 
 
 

Hours for the month 
Major Preservation – 36   Local Preservation –78 
Major winter Maint. – 0  Local winter Maint. – 0 

Streets (not act 51) – 103  Sidewalks – 0 
 

Vacation hours – 128  Sick time – 8 
 

 
        Respectfully Submitted, 
     
        Todd Hackenberg 
        Superintendent of Public Works 
 
 
 
 



WATER/SEWER OPERATIONS REPORT 

April 2022 

 

1)  10,746,000 Gallons of water were pumped during the month compared to 10,857,000 in 2021. 

2) The average daily usage was 358,200 gallons. 

3) Routine sampling was done with all samples being non detect. 

 

 

Total hours for the month Water – 87 Overtime – 10 

    Sewer – 200 Overtime – 24 

 

 

       Respectfully submitted, 

       Todd Hackenberg  
       Superintendent of Public Works     
               
        
     



LAWTON POLICE DEPARTMENT – COUNCIL REPORT 
APRIL 2022 

 
Calls for Service/Complaints------------------------------75 

Ordinance complaints--------------------------------------7    

     Blight (5)            Zoning (1)              Misc. (1) 

Traffic stops---------------------------------------------------8 

     Citations issued (9)            Verbal warnings (4) 

Arrests---------------------------------------------------------2 

Accidents------------------------------------------------------2  

Parking citations---------------------------------------------0 

HOURS WORKED:   Scheduled (Full-time)   420 

   Scheduled (Part-time)    

   Overtime hours                6 

   Vacation hours                 76 

   Sick leave hours   184  

COMMUNITY POLICING: 

Officers made (32) field contacts and (29) business contacts. 

Chief Mack attended the Senior luncheon at the St. Paul’s United Methodist Church and 
presented on current scam trends against our seniors. 

Officer Gibbs participated in the Youth Baseball and Softball parade. 

NOTABLE INCIDENTS: 

Officer Gibbs investigated a breaking and entering of Dailey Harvest Ministries were items were 
believed to have been taken.  Shortly after, he was called to the 100 block of S. Franklin for an 
illegal entry complaint.  A female suspect had entered the residence illegally and was arrested.  
The female was also identified as the person who had entered the ministry.  The ministry declined 
to press charges. 

Over a 2 week period LPD had responded to the Lawton High School regarding students being in 
possession and using “Vape” products.  Based on the investigations, (9) total civil infraction 



citations were issued to students.  Vaping and/or possession of vape products is illegal for anyone 
under 21 years of age.  Parents, please discuss the dangers of vaping with your children. 

ADDITIONAL: 

For the month of April, Lawton officers spend many hours of directed traffic patrol, specifically 
targeting speed violations.  The number of hours spent in the following locations is as follows: 

2.33 hours – Main St.  

5.75 hours – All other areas within the Village  

Total hours – 8.08 

LPD had 21 (Assist other agency calls):  3 in Antwerp Twp, 5 in Porter Twp, 2 to Paw Paw and 4 
within the Village.  7 were medical assists (5 in the village, 1 in Antwerp Twp. and 1 in Porter 
Twp.) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Respectfully, 

Chief Jeffrey Mack 








	04.26.2022 Council meeting minutes.pdf
	VILLAGE OF LAWTON
	Regular Meeting Minutes – Tuesday April 26, 2022, at 7:00 p.m.
	V. COMMUNICATIONS, CORRESPONDENCE AND PRESENTATIONS:
	VI. CITIZENS’ COMMENTS: None.
	VII. PUBLIC HEARING: None
	VIII. EXISTING BUSINESS:
	IX. NEW BUSINESS:




<<
  /ASCII85EncodePages false
  /AllowTransparency false
  /AutoPositionEPSFiles true
  /AutoRotatePages /PageByPage
  /Binding /Left
  /CalGrayProfile (Dot Gain 20%)
  /CalRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CalCMYKProfile (U.S. Web Coated \050SWOP\051 v2)
  /sRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CannotEmbedFontPolicy /Error
  /CompatibilityLevel 1.4
  /CompressObjects /Tags
  /CompressPages true
  /ConvertImagesToIndexed true
  /PassThroughJPEGImages true
  /CreateJobTicket false
  /DefaultRenderingIntent /Default
  /DetectBlends true
  /DetectCurves 0.0000
  /ColorConversionStrategy /CMYK
  /DoThumbnails false
  /EmbedAllFonts true
  /EmbedOpenType false
  /ParseICCProfilesInComments true
  /EmbedJobOptions true
  /DSCReportingLevel 0
  /EmitDSCWarnings false
  /EndPage -1
  /ImageMemory 1048576
  /LockDistillerParams false
  /MaxSubsetPct 100
  /Optimize true
  /OPM 1
  /ParseDSCComments true
  /ParseDSCCommentsForDocInfo true
  /PreserveCopyPage true
  /PreserveDICMYKValues true
  /PreserveEPSInfo true
  /PreserveFlatness true
  /PreserveHalftoneInfo false
  /PreserveOPIComments true
  /PreserveOverprintSettings true
  /StartPage 1
  /SubsetFonts true
  /TransferFunctionInfo /Apply
  /UCRandBGInfo /Preserve
  /UsePrologue false
  /ColorSettingsFile ()
  /AlwaysEmbed [ true
  ]
  /NeverEmbed [ true
  ]
  /AntiAliasColorImages false
  /CropColorImages true
  /ColorImageMinResolution 300
  /ColorImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleColorImages true
  /ColorImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /ColorImageResolution 300
  /ColorImageDepth -1
  /ColorImageMinDownsampleDepth 1
  /ColorImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeColorImages true
  /ColorImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterColorImages true
  /ColorImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /ColorACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /ColorImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasGrayImages false
  /CropGrayImages true
  /GrayImageMinResolution 300
  /GrayImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleGrayImages true
  /GrayImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /GrayImageResolution 300
  /GrayImageDepth -1
  /GrayImageMinDownsampleDepth 2
  /GrayImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeGrayImages true
  /GrayImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterGrayImages true
  /GrayImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /GrayACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /GrayImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasMonoImages false
  /CropMonoImages true
  /MonoImageMinResolution 1200
  /MonoImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleMonoImages true
  /MonoImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /MonoImageResolution 1200
  /MonoImageDepth -1
  /MonoImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeMonoImages true
  /MonoImageFilter /CCITTFaxEncode
  /MonoImageDict <<
    /K -1
  >>
  /AllowPSXObjects false
  /CheckCompliance [
    /None
  ]
  /PDFX1aCheck false
  /PDFX3Check false
  /PDFXCompliantPDFOnly false
  /PDFXNoTrimBoxError true
  /PDFXTrimBoxToMediaBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXSetBleedBoxToMediaBox true
  /PDFXBleedBoxToTrimBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXOutputIntentProfile ()
  /PDFXOutputConditionIdentifier ()
  /PDFXOutputCondition ()
  /PDFXRegistryName ()
  /PDFXTrapped /False

  /CreateJDFFile false
  /Description <<

    /BGR <>
    /CHS <FEFF4f7f75288fd94e9b8bbe5b9a521b5efa7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065876863900275284e8e9ad88d2891cf76845370524d53705237300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c676562535f00521b5efa768400200050004400460020658768633002>
    /CHT <FEFF4f7f752890194e9b8a2d7f6e5efa7acb7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065874ef69069752865bc9ad854c18cea76845370524d5370523786557406300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c4f86958b555f5df25efa7acb76840020005000440046002065874ef63002>
    /CZE <>
    /DAN <>
    /DEU <>
    /ESP <>
    /ETI <>
    /FRA <>
    /GRE <>

    /HRV (Za stvaranje Adobe PDF dokumenata najpogodnijih za visokokvalitetni ispis prije tiskanja koristite ove postavke.  Stvoreni PDF dokumenti mogu se otvoriti Acrobat i Adobe Reader 5.0 i kasnijim verzijama.)
    /HUN <>
    /ITA <>
    /JPN <FEFF9ad854c18cea306a30d730ea30d730ec30b951fa529b7528002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020658766f8306e4f5c6210306b4f7f75283057307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a30674f5c62103055308c305f0020005000440046002030d530a130a430eb306f3001004100630072006f0062006100740020304a30883073002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee5964d3067958b304f30533068304c3067304d307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a306b306f30d530a930f330c8306e57cb30818fbc307f304c5fc59808306730593002>
    /KOR <FEFFc7740020c124c815c7440020c0acc6a9d558c5ec0020ace0d488c9c80020c2dcd5d80020c778c1c4c5d00020ac00c7a50020c801d569d55c002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020bb38c11cb97c0020c791c131d569b2c8b2e4002e0020c774b807ac8c0020c791c131b41c00200050004400460020bb38c11cb2940020004100630072006f0062006100740020bc0f002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e00300020c774c0c1c5d0c11c0020c5f40020c2180020c788c2b5b2c8b2e4002e>
    /LTH <>
    /LVI <>
    /NLD (Gebruik deze instellingen om Adobe PDF-documenten te maken die zijn geoptimaliseerd voor prepress-afdrukken van hoge kwaliteit. De gemaakte PDF-documenten kunnen worden geopend met Acrobat en Adobe Reader 5.0 en hoger.)
    /NOR <>
    /POL <>
    /PTB <>
    /RUM <>
    /RUS <>
    /SKY <>
    /SLV <>
    /SUO <>
    /SVE <>
    /TUR <>
    /UKR <>
    /ENU (Use these settings to create Adobe PDF documents best suited for high-quality prepress printing.  Created PDF documents can be opened with Acrobat and Adobe Reader 5.0 and later.)
  >>
  /Namespace [
    (Adobe)
    (Common)
    (1.0)
  ]
  /OtherNamespaces [
    <<
      /AsReaderSpreads false
      /CropImagesToFrames true
      /ErrorControl /WarnAndContinue
      /FlattenerIgnoreSpreadOverrides false
      /IncludeGuidesGrids false
      /IncludeNonPrinting false
      /IncludeSlug false
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (InDesign)
        (4.0)
      ]
      /OmitPlacedBitmaps false
      /OmitPlacedEPS false
      /OmitPlacedPDF false
      /SimulateOverprint /Legacy
    >>
    <<
      /AddBleedMarks false
      /AddColorBars false
      /AddCropMarks false
      /AddPageInfo false
      /AddRegMarks false
      /ConvertColors /ConvertToCMYK
      /DestinationProfileName ()
      /DestinationProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /Downsample16BitImages true
      /FlattenerPreset <<
        /PresetSelector /MediumResolution
      >>
      /FormElements false
      /GenerateStructure false
      /IncludeBookmarks false
      /IncludeHyperlinks false
      /IncludeInteractive false
      /IncludeLayers false
      /IncludeProfiles false
      /MultimediaHandling /UseObjectSettings
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (CreativeSuite)
        (2.0)
      ]
      /PDFXOutputIntentProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /PreserveEditing true
      /UntaggedCMYKHandling /LeaveUntagged
      /UntaggedRGBHandling /UseDocumentProfile
      /UseDocumentBleed false
    >>
  ]
>> setdistillerparams
<<
  /HWResolution [2400 2400]
  /PageSize [792.000 612.000]
>> setpagedevice




